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1. Name of Property

historic name East Broadway Historic District
other names/site number N/A

2. _Location

street & number (see continuation sheets) N/A__ not for publication

city, town Waukesha; Town of Waukesha N/A vicinity
state Wisconsin code WI county Waukesha code 133 zip code 53188

3. Classification

Ownership of Property Category of Property No. of Resources within Property

_X_ private __ building(s) contributing noncontributing

___ public-local _X _ district _46 _10 buildings

___ public-State ____site - ____sites

___ public-Federal ____ structure - _____ structures

___ object . _____ objects

_46_ _10 Total

Name of related multiple property listing: No. of contributing resources

previously listed in the
N/A National Register 0




4, gstite/Federal Agency Certification

As the designated authority under the Natlonal Historic Preservation Act of 1966,
as amended, I hereby certify that this _X nomination ___request for determination
of eligibility meets the documentation standards for registering properties in the
National Register of Historic Places and meets the procedural and professional
requirements set forth in 36 CFR Part 60. In my opinion, the property _ X meets

__does t meet tf;zgi;;?nal Regjster criteria. __ _See continuation sheet.

ifying official Date[
C/Preservation Officer-wI
Sthte or Federal agency and bureau

In my opinion, the property meets does not meet the National Register
criteria. See continuation sheet.
Signature of commenting or other official Date

State or Federal agency and bureau

I, hgreby, certify that this property is:
entered in the National Register. -
— See continuation sheet ' 7

determined eligible for the National
Register. See continuation sheet

__ determined not eligible for the
National Register.

removed from the National Register.

____ other, (explain:)

Signature of the Keeper Date
6. Functions or Use
Historic Functions Current Functions
{enter categories from instructions) (enter categories from instructions)

DOMESTIC/single dwelling DOMESTIC/single dwelling




L, _Dasgripeion
Architectural Classification Materials
(enter categories from insatructions) {enter categories trom instructions)

toundation concrete

Coloniai Revival walls Stucco

Tudor Revival Brick

Bungalow/Crattsman root Asphalt

{See Continuation Sheet 7.22) other Weatherboard
Limestone
Wood

Describe present and historic physical appearance.

Description

The East Broadway Historic District consists of an excellent group of thirty-two
predominantly medium and larger-sized early twentieth century single family houses
and their twenty-four associated outbuildings. For the most part these buildings
were built between 1915 and 1939 for members of the city of Waukesha's professional
and entrepreneurial elite and the great majority were designed in either the
Bungalow and Craftsman styles, in the various manifestations of the Period Revival
styles, or in combinations of both. Most ot these houses sit well back on large,
well treed lots wnich are distributed for approximately 2000 feet along both sides
of East Broadway, one of Waukesha's most important thoroughfares. The oldest and
the only nineteenth century building in the district is the brick Italianate style
Edward Porter house (Map No. 8). This building was constructed Ca. 1870, a year
during which Waukesha was just beginning to establish a national reputation as a
summer resort community thanks to several medicinal springs that had just been
discovered in the vicinity. In the years that tollowed, Waukesha's population grew
trom 2500 in 1870 to 8740 in 1910 and most of the land that now encompasses the
district then lay just outside the city limits and was part of Edward Porter's
Broadway Farm. Then, as the resort era waned, Waukesha's economy underwent a
transtormation and the city developed into a manufacturing and retail center. This
transtormation was accompanied by a great increase in the local population base, and
the pressure this put on the existing housing stock of the city helped to create the
demand for Waukesha's first modern automobile-served suburbs. One of the earlier
areas atfected by this suburban expansion was the land along that part of East
Broadway that is now included in the district. Houses built along this part of East
Broadway were constructed incrementally, however, rather than as part of a planned
effort, and these houses generally predate the houses located in the platted suburbs
that now surround them. In fact, because most of the platted suburbs that lie-
adjacent to the district were actually developed by groups of individual property
owners who lived within the district, it can be said that the East Broadway Historic
District acted as the core from which the surrounding suburbs grew.*

The combined thoroughfares known as East and West Broadway have historically been
one of Waukesha's major transportation routes. West Broadway begins at the bank of
the Fox River and it then cuts diagonally (in a southeast direction) across the
downtown commercial sector of the city for a distance of five blocks until it
intersects with the north-south running East Avenue. This intersection forms the
southeast corner of the commercial sector of the city and from this point east,
Broadway is known as East Broadway. The street then begins a gradual ascent as it
proceeds in an east-southeast direction out of the city and on into the surrounding

* Today, thanks in part to its close proximity to the neighboring metropolis of
Milwaukee, Waukesha has become the eighth largest city in Wisconsin with a 1990

population of 56,958.
X See continuation sheet
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countryside where it becomes County Trunk Highway D as it travels towards the
outskirts of the city of Milwaukee some five miles distant. West Broadway is lined
with commercial buildings, but East Broadway is a residential street that is lined
tor the most part with single tamily homes. The point where the western end of the
district, begins can be readily detected by the change in the size of the lots that
line the street at this point. fThe eight blocks between East Avenue and Fisk Avenue
{the western end of the district) are lined for the most part with late Victorian
style single family houses that are set close together on standard size city lots.
These blocks have a crowded urban feel to them that is in marked contrast to the
lots within the aistrict, which, with their broad lawns and numerous trees, exude an
air of spaciousness that is much more suburban in feeling.

The East Broadway Historic District contains 56 resources of which 32 are single
family residences and 24 are associated outbuildings such as garages. Of this
number, 3 of the residences and 6 of the outbuildings were puilt atter 1940 and are
thus considered to be non-contributing to the district. The earliest of the
district's contributing houses, the brick Italianate style Edward Porter house, has
already been mentioned and this building is important to the history of the district
even though its presence in the district is something of a stylistic anomaly. The
other 28 residences and 18 outbuildings that make up all the rest of the district's
contributing buildings were built over a period of nearly three decades beginning in
1915. Many of these buildings are significant individually as excellent
representative examples of their various styles and they are also significant
collectively because they illustrate a stylistic progression that took place
nationally during this period. The earliest group of these buildings was built
between 1915 and 1922 and it consists of one of Waukesha's finest groups of
Bungalow/Craftsman style houses. The second group was built between 1921 and 1939
and these houses were designed in the increasingly fashionable period revival styles
that predominate between WWI and WWIl. The district's excellent collection of ‘these
houses is the finest and most varied concentration of period revival style houses in
Waukesha. The enduring appeal of these houses has been accompanied by a
correspondingly high general standard of maintenance and both these factors have
contributed to tne high degree of inteqrity that characterizes the district today.
This integrity also extends to the landscape of the district as well. Comparing the
district of today with earlier maps shows that the integrity of the original
relationship of the houses to the street is still intact.

The same stylistic progression that occurs in the district can be seen in other
neighborhoods of the city as well and fine examples of both Bungalow/Craftsmen style
houses and period revival style houses exist in both the Carroll College/College
Avenue Historic District and in the McCall Street Historic District.?® In both of

2 The Carroll College/College Avenue Historic District and the McCall Street
Historic District were placed on the NRHP on December 1, 1983 and October 28, 1983,

respectively.
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these districts, though, the representatives of these styles were inserted into
already establishea neighborhoods in which nineteenth century styles predominate.
The houses within the East Broadway district, on the other nhand, were designed to
take advantage ot much larger Lots and, as a resuit, these houses are both larger in
scale and they have a much more pronounced horizontal emphasis than do the older

houses located nearby.

The gradual tilling in of the lots along East Broadway eventually led to the
creation of other plats adjacent to it. Almost all the houses in these later plats
were designed in the Period Revival styles and some ot these houses are equal in
size and quality to those in the district. Even so, the houses within the East
Broadway district are architecturally, historically and spatially distinct from
those in these later areas. The lots in the newer plats were filled within a much
shorter time period than were the larger lots in the East Broadway district, thus
giving these plats a stylistic uniformity that is in marked contrast to more
stylistically diverse appearance ot the kKast Broadway District. The predominantly
Period Revival style buildings in the newer plats are also of a later date than
those within the district and this has resuited in buildings that represent a later
stage in the evolution of the Period Revival styles.3 The newer buildings outside
the district also ditter from the contributing buildings within the district in that
there is a much higher incidence of buildings covered in wooden weatherboard outside
the district. Only two ot the contributing buildings within the district are wholly
covered in weatherboard (Resources Nos. 12, 29); the rest being surfaced either
wholly or partiy in brick, cut stone, stucco or some combination ot these

materials.

The following inventory lists every resource in the district and includes the
original owner's name, construction date, address, map number, and contributing or
non-contributing status. |

INVENTORY
Map No. Address Historic Name/Use Date Status
1 1008 East Broadway Dr. Albert Hodgson house 1924 C
la as above outbuilding 1927 C
2 1100 East Broadway Waiter R. Meier house 1928 C
2a as above garage 1928 c

3 Two of these plats are: the Missionary Ridge Subdivision, platted in 1938 and
located south of the 1200 and part of the 1300 blocks of East Broadway; and the
Broadway Heights Subdivision, platted in 1939 and located north of the 1200 block of
East Broadway. Both of these subdivisions were developed by property owners then
living within the district in houses that fronted on the blocks just listed.
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INVENTORY CONTINUED

Map No. Address
3 1110 East Broadway
4 1114 East Broadway
4a as above
5 1120 East Broadway
5a as above
6 1202 East Broadway
ba as above
7 1710 East Broaaway
8 1222 kast Broaaway
8a as above
8b as above
9 1230 East Broadway
9a as above
10 112 N. Porter Ave.
11 1302 East Broadway
1lla as above
12 1310 East Broadway
12a as above
13 1316 East Broadway
13a as above
14 1400 East Broadway
15 1416 East Broadway
15a as above
16 1424 East Broadway
16a as above
17 1500 East Broadway
17a as above
18 1501 East Broadway
18a as above
19 1439 East Broadway
20 1435 East Broadway
21 1431 East Broadway
22 1421 East Broadway
23 1411 East Broadway
23a as above
24 1401 East Broadway
24a as above
25 1315 East Broadway
25a as above
25b as above

Historic Name/Use

Lewis W. Youker house
Walter E. Scheel house

garage
Dr. Martin werra house
garage
Charles J. Schuetze house

garage
Salem Evangelical United
Church Minister's house
Edward Porter/George B.
Harris house
carriage nouse
outbuilding
William Beaumont house
garage
Leo F. Miller II1 house
Charles H. Gittner house

garage
Edwin H. Nowak house
garage
John F. Bauer house
garage

Samuel D. Thompson house
Ernest B. Glidden house
garage
George G. Town house
garage
Lewis A. Williams house
garage
William E. Runkle house
outbuilding
James B. Fisher house
Leo Federer house
Russell E. Hartley house
Dr. Cordelle A. Wood house
William S. Halladay house
garage
George H. Butler house
garage
Otto 0. Bluhm house
garage
outbuilding

Ca.
.1950

Ca

Ca.

Ca

Ca.
Ca.
Ca.
Ca.
Ca.
Ca.
Ca.
.1960

Ca

Ca.
Ca.
Ca.

Ca.
Ca.
Ca.
Ca.

Ca.
Ca.

Date

1949
1926
1929
1925

L1925

1921
1932
1957

.1870

1870

1931
1931
1951
1924
1982
1923
1923
1919
1954

L1925

1932
1932
1935
1935
1922
1960
1919

1939
1939
1928
1935
1919
1919
1919
1919
1922
1922
1980

Status
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INVENTORY CONTINUED

Map No. Address Historic Name/Use bate Status
26 . 1307 East Broadway Stanley J. Christoph house 1937 C
26a | as above outbuilaing 1937 C
21 1239 East Broadway William Weitzel house Ca.1917 C
28 1233 Kast Broadway Charles Harwood/John G. 1919 C
Kelly house
28a as above garage 1919 C
29 1227 East Broadway Charles Harwood/Raymond 1919 c
, E. Huppert house
29a as above garage 1919 C
30 1221 East Broadway Charles H. Harwood house Ca. 1915 C
30a as above garage Ca.l915 c
31 1125 East Broadway Jonathan E. Haertel house Ca.1918 C
3la as above garage Ca.l918 c
32 1117 East Broadway Caspar Reichl house 1922 NC

DESCRIPTION OF SELECTED INDIVIDUAL BUILDINGS WITHIN THE DISTRICT
Dx ert Ho n_House (Contributing) 1008 East Broadway Map No. 1

The Hodgson house 1s the only example of the Spanish Colonial Revival style in the
district and it is sited on a prominent, sloping lot at the corner ot East Broadway
and Fisk Avenue. This large single family house is one story in height, is
irreqular in plan, and measures 39-feet-deep Dy 68.5-feet-wide. A partial basement
underlies the house, the foundation walls throughout are constructed of concrete and
these walls project out slightly beyond the main walls above. The exterior walls
above the basement story are made of tile coated with stucco and their uppermost
portion forms a shallow parapet that hides the flat compositition-covered roof
behind. This parapet is crowned by an edging or coping made of blue, brown and tan-
colored barrel or mission style tiles.

The main southwest-facing facade of the house is decidedly asymmetrical in massing
and it consists ot three seperate sections, each of which is progressively stepped
back from the next beginning with the left-hand section. The left-hand section is
l16-feet-wide by 38-feet-deep and contains the living room of the house. The front-
facing elevation of this section is one-bay-wide and it contains a single pair of
three-light wood sash casement windows; the window type used throughout the house.
The northwest-facing side elevation of this section is three-bays-wide and its two
outer bays contain paired casement windows while the center bay contains a single
fixed three-light casement window. This section also features a small brick chimney
mass that rises from within the house and its visible portion has battered sides.
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The center section is stepped back 10.5 feet from the left-hand section and it is
slightly taller than the two tlanking sections and is 30.%-feet-wide and 22.5-teet
-deep. The main entrance of the house 1s centered on this section's three-bay-wide
front-tacing elevation and this door is topped by a blind semi-circular arched
fanlight. faced with tiles. The door is sheltered by a gable roofed porch that is
supported by two chamfered wood posts and the porch roof is also covered in tiles.
The door is then flanked on either side by a pair ot casement windows, each of which
is also surmounted by a blind, recessed semi-circular arch surtaced in stucco. The
right-hand section of the house 1s then set back one foot from the center section
and this section is 22-teet-wide by 22-teet-deep and its front elevation is two-pays-
wide. There is also an acttached one-car garage placed across the rear of this
section and .its door faces onto Fisk Avenue and it is sheltered by a tile-covered
pent roof. Located just adjacent to and north of this garage is a small tlat-roofed
stucco over concrete block shed (Map No. lA) that measures lu-feet-wide by l7-tfteet-
deep. Both the house and shed are in excellent original condition.

A large patio is also located behind the house in the space outlined by the three
sections described above. A central path pisects this patio longitudinally and it
leads to small fountain and to a semi-circular tiight ot stone steps that lead down
into a lower garden.

This house was built in 1924¢ and the shed in 1927® for bLr. Albert J. Hodgson (1858-
1943), one of Waukesha's most prominent medical practitioners and a nationally known
specialist in the treatment of diabetes. Because of his well known dietary regimen,
patients from all over the country came to see him in Waukesha and in 1910 be
founded the spa at the White Rock Mineral Springs that was then moved into the
former Park Hotel on East Broadway (non-extant) in 1913.% Hodgson continued the spa
until 1920, after which he retired and built the Park Theater Building located at
717 N. Grand Avenue (extant).7 :

Walter R. Meier House (Contributing) 1100 East Broadway Map No. 2

The Meier house is one of the finest and most original of the several Tudor Revival
style residences in the district and it is sited on a prominent, sloping corner lot
across Fisk Avenue from the Hodgson house (Map No. l1). This large single family
house is one story in height, is essentially rectilinear in plan, and measures 38-
feet-wide by 60-feet-deep. A full basement story underlies the house and the
foundation walls throughout are constructed of concrete. Where they are visible

4 Building Permit. <City of Waukesha Inspection Unit files, City ot Waukesha City
Hall.

® 1bid.

& A.J. Hodgson File, pPhysicians Biographies. Waukesha County Museum, Waukesha,
Wisconsin. Contains extensive newspaper and other citations pertaining to Hodgson.

7 Waukesha Freeman. October 6, 1943. Obituary ot Dr. Hodgson.
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above grade the basement story's exterlor walls and the exterior portions ot the

main walls above them are all sheathec in a beautitully cratted continuous veneer ot
coursed ashlar Lannon stone. These walls then terminate in plain close eaves (gable-
rooted portions) and overhanging eaves (hip-rootea portions) ot the combination
gable/hip roof and the entire roof is then covered in very tine slate shingles.

Like the Hodgson house, tnhe main southwest-tacing East Broadway tacade ot the Meier
house is also decidedly asymmetrical in massing and it consists of two principal
sections. The tront-facing eievation ot the lett-hand section is l§-teet-wide and
i1t is terminated by a gapble end above. 'The left-hand edge of its wall surtace is
also extended in such a way as to give the wall a battered appearance. This
elevation is dominated by a centralily placed triple door group that consists ot
larger opening containing a pair ot 12-light leaded glass French doors, ana this
opening is flanked on either side by smaller openings, each of which is filled by a
single 18-1light leadea glass French door. These three openings each have wrought
iron balconets and Tudor style four-centered arch heads and they are separated from
each other by thin mullions covered in stone. These mullions are then continued up
and around the heads of each door opening and there is also a small four-centered
arch window in the upper part of the gable end above that ventilates the attic.

The northwest-facing Fisk Avenue side elevation of this left-hand section is itself
three-sections-wide. The right-hand section (which contains the living room)
contains two pairs of French style doors, both of which are identical in design to
those on the front, and these openings flank a massive, centrally placed stepped
stone-covered chimney mass. The slope ot the gable roof above this section also has
two eyebrow dormers that are placed on either side of the chimney. The center
section of this elevation consists of a projecting, gable roofed salient whose most
prominent feature is an asymmetrically placed group ot four window openings, each ot
which is filled with a single 12-light leaded glass casement window. The left-hand
section of this elevation is sheltered by a hip roof and this section contains two
separate differently sized paired two-window groups, both of which are also filled
with casement windows filled with leaded glass.

The right-hand section of the main facade is sheltered by a hip roof and it is two-
bays-wide and the right-hand bay contains another pair of leaded glass krencnh doors
placed under a four-centered arch that open onto a flagstone terrace. The left-hand
bay consists of a projecting gable-rooted entrance vestibule with battered sides
that is faced in stone and roofed in slate and it features a four-centered arch
opening facing East Broadway. Finely crafted details abound on this house, one of
the most notable being the copper gutters and downspouts used throughout.

The use of lannon stone veneer is continued on the detached hip-roofed two-car

garage (Map No. 2A) built at the same time as the house and located at the rear and
to the right of it and the same stone is used to form beautifully crafted retaining
walls that line the perimeter of the lot. All the elements described above are in

excellent original condition.
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Both the house and the garage were built in 1928° at a cost of $28,000 for Walter R.
Meier (?-1947), a respected Waukesha businessman who had purchased the Waukesha Ice
Cream Company on Arcadian Avenue in 1926 and renamed the company after himself. He
expanded the company betore selling it to the Pet Milk Company in 1930.° pet Milk
added additional plants in Milwaukee and Beaver Dam and they continued to operate
the firm in Meier's name until 1946. Meier's architects were the Milwaukee firm of

Dick and Bauer.t©

Walter B. Scheel House {Contripbuting) 1114 East Broadway Map No. 4

This house is a good example of a late side-gabled Bungalow style design and it is
one-story in height, measures 26-feet-wide by 40-feet-deep and 1s rectilinear in
plan. A tull basement story underlies the house and the toundation walls throughout
are constructed ot concrete. where they are visible above grade the basement
story's exterior walls and the exterior portions of the main walls above them are
uniformly sheathed in & dark brown brick and these walls are then sheltered by the
broad, overhanging eaves and wooden soffits of the gable roof that covers the
house. The main facade faces southwest onto East Broadway ana its most prominent
tfeature 1s a l4-toot-wide by 8-toot-deep, rectilinear plan, enclosed gable rooted
sunporch salient that covers the lett hait of the tacade. This salient is sided in
the same brick as the house and it has two large paired window openings centered on
its street elevation that are now each filled with a large sheet of plate glass.**
To the right ot the porch is a 5-foot-wide by 4-foot-deep brick walled entrance
vestibule that contains a 4-light over two-panel oak entrance door and this
vestibule is sheltered by a shed roof that is formed by a downward continuation ot
the slope ot the main roof. A three-over-one-light double hung window is placed on
the main wall surface to the right of the entrance vestibule and a raised terrace
extends across the width of the facade to the right of the sunporch. This terrace
is partially screened by a tall brick-sided parapet topped with a concrete coping.

The northwest-facing side elevation of the house has a shed-roofed bay placed in its
center that contains a group of four three-over-one-light double hung windows and
there is also a group of three of these windows to the right of the bay and a group
of two windows to its left. The gable end above the bay has another pair of these
windows centered in it as well and similar groups of windows are also used on the
southeast-facing side elevation of the house.

® Building Permits. City of Waukesha Inspection Unit files, City of Waukesha City
Hall.

® Waukesha Freeman. January 30, 1948. Also October 9, 1947, Obituary of W.R.
Meier.

0 Ibid, July 26, 1978, pg. 6.

11 These openings may each have originally been filled with paired three-over-one-
light double hung windows like those used elsewhere on the house.
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There is a one-car trame construction gaple-roofed garage clad 1n wood clapboards
{Map No. 4A) locatea to the rignht and to the rear of the house and a small modern
metal shed has been placed just in tront of this garage. Otherwise, both the house
and garage are 1in very good and largely original condition.

This house was designed and built in 1926*2 by Paul F. Gierke for walter k. Scheel
(1892-1927), a partner in the Spring City Pattern Works then locatea at 361 W. Main
Street. Scheel had joined H.B. Mueller in this firm just a few years before and
atter Scheel's untimely death in 1927 Mueller joined torces with Harry Arneson, who
was still the president of the relocatea tirm (521 W. Wisconsin Ave.) in 1947.+°
The garage was built by Laura B. Scheel, Walter's widow, 1in 1929.++

Dr. Martin Werra House (Contributing) 1120 East Broadway Map No. 5

The Werra house is located on the corner of Kast Broaaway and Frederick Street and
it is a fine example of the Dutch Colonial Revival style that was built in three
stages between 1925 and 1948. 7The original house was built in 1925*® and it
consists of the two-story main block whose principal facade still faces southwest
onto East Broadway. When first built this house had a square plan that measured 28-
feet by 28-feet and it was founded on a basement story whose walls are built of
concrete block. The walls of the tirst story above the basement are clad in a dark
brown brick and this story is sheltered by the asphalt shingle-covered gambrel roof
above. The roof has overhanging eaves and a ridgeline that parallels East Broadway
and both its front and rear-facing lower slopes have nearly full length shed roofed
dormers that are sided in the same narrow clapboards that also side the gambrel
ends.

The first tloor ot the main tacade of this house is asymmetrical and two-bays-wide.
The left-hand bay contains a triple window group filled with six-over-one-liight
double hung windows. “The right-hana bay contains the main entrance door, which is
sheltered by a pedimented entrance porch supported by two fluted Doric Order columns
that are doubled by fluted pilasters placed on either side of the door. The dormer
on the roof above contains two symmetrically placed pairs of six-over-one-light

windows.

Originally, there was also a lU-foot-wiae by l4-foot-deep porch on the southeast-
facing side elevation of the house as well, but in 1933 this porch was demolished
and a two-story, gambrel-rooted 8-foot-wide by 25-foot-deep addition designed by

*2 Building Permit. City of Waukesha Inspection Unit files, City of Waukesha City
Hall.

3 Waukesha Freeman. November 14, 1947.

*++¢ Building Permit, Op. Cit.

2 ]bid.
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architect Mark Ptaller was added across the width ot this elevation.*® The design
of this addition (which lengthened the nouse by ¥ teet) closely approximated that of
the original and it replicated the siding of both the first and second flioors of the
original house and used the same six-over-one-light windows as well. Pfaller also
designed,another addition for Werra in 1948 that was placed on the rear elevation of
the original house. *This addition is also two-stories in height ana it measures 13-
feet-wide by 18-feet-deep and it too is sided in the same materials as the original
house. Uniike the eariier addition, though, this one has a hip roof and it is
placed so as to extend the northwest-facing side elevation of the house, thus giving
the house an "L" shape plan. Other features ot this addition inciude a two-story
veranda on its southeast-facing elevation and somewhat more elaborate trim.

In addition, there is a two-car hip-roofed clapboard sided garage (Map No. 5)
located just behind the last addition that is probably original to the house. Both
the house and the garage are in excellent condition today and the two additions to
the house were done so well that they enhance, rather than detract trom the original
design of the house.

Dr. Martin J. werra (1896-197U) was a prominent Waukesha physician and one-time
chiet of statt of the Waukesha Memorial Hospital. He practiced in Waukesha for 45
years and was a member of the Waukesha School Board for 26 years.>” Dr. Werra was
the son of Conrad Werra, whose werra Aluminum Foundry was long one of Waukesha's
biggest industries.

Charles J. schuetze House (Contributing) 1202 kast Broadway Map No. b

The Schuetze house is Waukesha's finest residential example of the Mediterranean
Revival style and it is also one of the district's most imposing residences as well.
The house sits well back on its oversized lot and it consists of a two-story
rectilinear plan main block measuring 48-feet-wide by 28-teet-deep that rests on
poured concrete foundation walls that enclose a full basement story. The exterior
walls above this foundation are sided in a tan brick and these walls are sheltered
by the broad, overhanging eaves of the tile-covered shallow-pitched hip roof that

crowns the house.

The principal facade of the house faces southwest onto East Broadway and it is
symmetrical in design and three-bays-wide. The center bay of the first floor
contains the elaborate main entrance door of the house. This classically inspired
design consists of a carved oak door that is flanked by six-light leaded glass
sidelights and then surmounted by a small semi-circular arched fanlight divided by
radiating lead cames. All these elements are enclosed in a wooden architrave that

1% Building Permit. City of Waukesha lnspection Unit files, City of Waukesha City

Hall.
7 waukesha Freeman. November 21, 1970. Obituary of Dr. Werra.
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has a curved wood-covered pediment motive placed above; its curve peing flat enough
to arch over both the door and its sidelights. *his architrave is then itseltf
enframed by an elaborate carved stone surround that features a pair of Tuscan Order
columns placed on the outer side ot each sidelight. A carved stone entablature then
rests on, top of these columns and this entablature is then extended above the curved
pediment. The center bay is tlanked by triple window groups placed in the bays on
either side and the design of these groups is a somewhat simplitied version of the
center bay. kach of these two end bays contains a pair of l/-1light leaded glass
French doors that are tianked by six-light side lights and the doors are surmounted
by a small leaded glass tanlight. ‘The three elements are enclosed in a wooden
architrave that is recessed slightly into the main wall surface under a broad,
shallow arch. Both of these window groups are further decorated with wrought iron

balconets.

The two end bays ot the second tloor ot this tacade each contaln paired 6-over-b-
light leaded glass windows and the center pay contains a triple window group of 4-
over-4-light leaded glass windows ornamented with a wrought iron balconet placed on
a cut stone slab supported by two brackets. Two symmetrically disposed hip-roofed
dormers are placed on the slope ot the roof above and both dormers are roofed in
tile. The main facade is further extended by the placement of similar-sized porches
on the two side elevations of the house. The porch on the southeast side measures
10-feet-wide by 17.5-feet-deep and it is a flat-roofed screened porch whose roof is
supported by wooden columns and which has a wooden balustrade encircling its roof.
The corresponding porch on the northwest elevation measures l0-feet-wide by 18-feet-
deep and it is an enclosed sunporch sheltered by a hip root covered in tiles. This
porch is lit by groups of large floor-to-ceiling height triple window groups that
each contain paired 12-light leaded glass windows that are flanked by 6-light

sidelights.

A large 34-foot-wide by 22-foot-deep one-story three-car garage (Map No. 5A) is
located some distance behind the house on Frederick Street. This building was
constructed in 1932*® and it too is sided in tan brick and has a shallow-pitched hip
root that is covered in asphalt shingles. Three paneled wooden garage doors face
onto Frederick Street and the side elevations each contain three l2-light wooaden
sash windows. Both the house and garage are in excellent original condition today.

This house was constructed in 1921*® for prominent Waukesha businessman Charles F.
Schuetze (18?-1958), the founder and owner of the Waukesha-based Manitowoc Church
Furniture Company. Schuetze tounded this company in Manitowoc in 1908 and moved the
firm to Waukesha in 1913. Ftrom that time on Schuetze steadily expanded the company

+@ Building Permit. City ot waukesha Inspection Unit tiles, City of Waukesha City

Hall.
13 1bid.
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until by 1948 it was the largest ot its kind in the country.<“ Schuetze was also
active 1in civic attairs as well and was widely known as the "Father ot Waukesha's

Park System."<+

Edward Porter/George B. Harris House (Contributing) 1222 vast Broadway Map No. 8

This much altered house is both the olidest and one of the largest houses in the
district and it sits well back on its very large lot. The original portion was
built ca. 1870 for Edward Porter and it consists of a very large irregqular plan two-
story Italianate style house that 1s set on cut stone toundation walls that enclose
a full pbasement story. This story supports the painted, brick-tfaced exterior walls
of the two stories above. The 1870 house consists of three nearly identical-sized
rectilinear plan gabie-roofed sections, each section of which is placed parallel to
the others, torming a complex whole that has a triple parallel gable roof. The
symmetrical main facade of the first section taces southwest onto East Broadway and
it measures 36.5-feet-wide by 19.5-teet-deep. 7This section is five-bays-wide and
the main entrance to the house is placed in the center bay of the tirst floor. All
the remaining bays on both tloors on this tacade each contains a single segmental
arched window opening and these openings are each filled with a two-over-two-iight
double hung window. This section is sheltered by the very broad overhanging eaves
ot the gable roof above, a root whose ridgeline runs northwest-southeast parallel

with East Broadway.

The second section is placed immeaiately behind the first, but it is three-feet
longer and three-feet less wide and 1t is positioned so that its northwest side
elevation is inset three-teet trom the same elevation of the first section and its
southeast side elevation projects six-feet beyond that of the corresponding
elevation ot the first section. &kach of these elevations was originally two-bays-
wide and the original second floor windows of these elevations have survived the
subsequent remodelings and they are the same design as the ones on the main tacade.

The third section is placed immediately behind the second and it too has side
elevations that are two-bays-wide. The l18-toot-wide northwest-facing side elevation
of the third section continues the same plane as the same elevation of the second
section. The third section's southeast-facing side elevation, however, projects six-
feet further to the southeast than that of the same elevation of the second section,
and the result is that the combined southeast elevations of these three sections
step back and out from the front of the house in a series of three nearly equal
steps. The 39-foot-wide rear elevation of this third section appears to have
originally been four-bays-wide and each of this elevation's four second floor bays
survived the later remodelings and they each contain a window opening that is
identical to the ones on the main facade described above. And, like the second

20 Waukesha Freeman. January 30, 1948.
22 1bid. February 12, 19%5.
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section, the third section is covered by a separate gable roof whose ridgeline
paraliels that ot the tirst section.

The puilding permit file for this house indicates that this house was remodeled in
1908 andragain in 1930, but the nature ot these changes is not specified.=<

Stylistic evidence, however, suggests that the 1908 remodeling consisted ot the
additions made to the main facade ot the house. 'These aaditions include the
construction ot an ll-toot-deep enclosed American Crattsman style one-story veranda
or sunporch across the width ot the main tacade and across the northwest-tacing siae
side elevation of the front section and the placing ot a large gable-roofea one-bay-
wide pavilion on top ot the root ot the new veranda covering the original center bay
ot the second tfloor of the main facade. ‘'The veranda root is supported by pillars
constructed out of panel-taced concrete block and light 1is admitted to the veranda
through pairs ot Ll-light windows, each pair ot which 1s surmounted by an eight-
light transom winaow. ‘he entrance door to the veranaa 1s placed in tront ot the
main entrance door on the front ot the house itselt and this door has a segmentai-
arched head and a six-light transom above. ‘the door is tlanked by ll-light windows,
both of which are also topped with similar transoms, and there 1s a group of four
tall 8-light leaded glass windows placed in the tront ot the pavilion located above
the entrance.

The 1930 remodeling was the work of Milwaukee architect Hugo C. Haeuser.*®* So far
as can be determined, Haeuser's exterior work included covering all the existing
gable ends with stucco and false half-timber work and covering the first tloors of
the southeast-facing side elevations of the second and third sections with a veneer
of large ashlar stone work, both changes that gave the house a somewhat Tudor

Revival style aspect.

There is also an early (ca. 1870) carriage house (Map No. 8A) located behind and to
the rear of the house. This building is sided in stucco and it is rectilinear in
plan and one-and-a-half stories in height and it is covered by a side-gabled rootf
with returned eaves whose rear-facing slope extends downward to the top of the first
floor, giving the building a "catslide" or "saltbox™" style side profile. ‘he main
facade faces onto East Broadway and 1t has two unequal-sized garage door openings
that now contain modern doors and both openings are sheltered by a nearly full-width
pent roof supported by carved brackets. A gable-rooted dormer is placed in the
center of the front-facing slope of the roof and it features a single segmental
arched opening that once facilitated the loading of hay into the attic story.

“* Bullding Permit. City ot wWaukesha Inspection Unit tiles, City ot Waukesha City
Hall.
23 \bid.
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Other buiidings on the property inciude a iater non-contributing trame construction,
rectilinear plan, gable-rooted, clapboard-sided shed (Map No. 8B) and a modern flat-
rooted two-car one-story garage that is attached to the rear of the house. AlLl
buildings on this lot are in very good condition today and there 1s also a tennis
court Logated to the west ot the shea.

The original house was built for a wealthy Waukesha tarmer and occasional railroad
contractor named Edward Porter (181Y-1895), a native ot England who came to Waukesha
in 1850 and began work as a contractor tor the Milwaukee and Mississippi Railroad
(Wisconsin's first). Porter's success enabled him to buy a 400 acre farm in the
township of Waukesha east ot the village of waukesha in 1857.%* This property was
named Broadway Farm and it contained much of the land that is now incituded within
the East Broadway Historic District. Porter built nis house on this land ca. 1870
and he continued to reside there until his death in 1895.2° Around 1904 the now
much smaller property and the house was purchased by George B. Harris (l3861-1Y40), a
prominent Waukesha businessman who had formed the Wisconsin Butter and Cheese Co. to
consolidate the 15 area creameries and cheese factories he and his brother had
operated as the Harris Brothers Company. The former firm was operated from 1891 to
1926, when it was dissolved and its holdings sold to the United Milk Products Corp.
Harris was also a civic leader and an active worker in the movement to better
conditions in prisons and reformatories.?® He was also the principal developer ot
the Broadway Heights Subdivision, a plat he developed with his neighbors out of the
rest ot the land he acquired when he bought the Porter house and landholdings.

William Beaumont House (Contriputing) 1230 East Broadway Map No. 9

'he Beaumont house is a large and unusually late example of the American Koursquare
style and it 1s two-stories in height, has a square plan, and measures Z8-feet-wide
by 29-feet-deep. A tull basement underlies the house and the visible portions of
the concrete block foundation walls are covered with the same Lannon stone random
range work veneer that covers ail the exterior walis above grade level. 'rhese walls
rise to the wide overhanging eaves which support the asphalt shingle-covered hip
roof that shelters the nouse. A large hip-roofed dormer is centered on both the
southwest and northwest-facing slopes ot this roof and the former dormer still
retains its original triple window group featuring three six-over-one-light windows
while the latter dormer has a paired group of the same windows.

The principal facade of the house faces southwest onto East Broadway and the main
entrance is placed in the center bay on the first floor of this three-bay-wide
symmetrical facade and it is tlanked by eight-light sidelights. All the other bays

24 j d Bi jcal Reco of Waukes Count Wisconsin. Excelsior

Publishing Company, Chicago, Illinois, 1894, pgs. 881-883.
2% Waukesha Freeman. March 28, 1895. Obituary of Edward Porter.
26 Ibid. July S5, 1940. Obituary of George B. Harris.
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on this and the other elevations of the house contain groups of six-over-one-light
double hung windows and those on the main facade are all paired groups. f“he first
floor of the main tacade is sheltered by a full-width one-story hip-roofed open
tront porch that has a large gablet placed above its center. The roof of this porch
is upheld by placing groups of three square posts at each corners and groups of four
posts be€low the ends of the centrally placed gablet located above the entrance.

There is also a large 18-toot-wide by 2l-foot-deep hip-roofed one-story garage
building (Map No. YA) located at the rear of the property. %This garage is sided in
the same fine random range work lannon stone veneer that covers the house and it was
built at the same time.

Beaumont built this house and garadge tor himselt and two sisters in 1931%’ and he
continued to occupy 1t untii he died in 1953.2° ‘I'ne HBeaumont siblings were all
involved in the running ot a large summer resort on Beaver Lake, Wisconsin that haa
been developed by their parents.<® Their house and garage are still in excellent
and near original condition today.

Leo F. Miller [1{ House (Non-Contributing) 112 N. Porter Avenue Map No. 1U

The one-story Miller house 1s an unusual example ot Modern Movement design. This
house sits on a prominent corner lot bounded by East Broadway and N. Porter Avenue
and it has an irreqular tloor plan that can be described as a rectangular shape with
a serrated corner that faces the corner of the lot where the two streets intersect.
The building has concrete foundation walls that enclose a full basement story. The
exterior walls above grade are constructed out of precast reintorced concrete panels
that were raised in place and these walls have a layer ot insulation board inside
and their exteriors are veneered in a layer of split boulders laid in a random
rubble fashion. The entire house is sheltered by a nearly flat shed roof that rises
very slightly from the rear to the front and this roof has broad, overhanging flat
eaves that are supported by long projecting beam ends. The house is also heated
with radiant heating.

The northwest-facing side elevation of the house measures 65.5-feet-long and the
perpendicularly placed northeast-facing rear elevation is 36-feet-long. Then,
beginning at the rear (east) corner of the house, the southeast-facing side
elevation runs parallel to the northwest side for a distance of 37.75-feet. At this
point the wall turns 35Y and runs for l4-fteet, then turns 90' and runs for 11.25-
teet, then turns 80" and runs 22.33-feet, and finally turns 20 and runs lu-feet to
the point of intersection of the northwest and the southeast-facing elevations.

%7 Building Permit. City ot Waukesha lnspection Unit tiles, City of Waukesha City
Hall.

28 Waukesha kreeman. November 24, 1953. Obituary ot William Beaumont.

22 Ibid. March 25, 1938. Obituary of Edythe Beaumont.
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This results in the serrated corner mentioned above and has the atrect of creating
two short (l4-toot and ZZ.33-toot) walls that face at an angie to the corner. Each
of these walls has a large picture window inserted in it and the one on the longer
wall 1s tlanked by large tloor-to-ceiling panels ot vertical board and batten siding
and by the main entrance door, wnich is located to the right ot the picture window.
in aadition, the one-car garade 1s incorporated into the house and 1ts door opening
is located at the rear end ot the southeast-tacing elevation.

Leo Miller was the owner ot the Miller vrinting Company 1n Waukesha (atterwards the
Miller-0'Connell Corporation) ana his house was built in L1951 to the design of
architect Edward Gray.-®° “The nhouse 1is 1n good, largely original condition today,
but it has had a large battery of solar panels placed on its roof facing the

street. 1ts awkward design and late date ot construction make it a non-contributing
resource in the district.

John #. Bauer House {Contributing) 13i6 East Broadway Map No. 13

This very fine Arts and Crafts style-influenced Bungalow style house is an excellent
example of the way in which these two styles complemented each other. The Bauer
house is one-and-a-half-stories in height, and its main block has a rectilinear plan
and measures 30-teet-wide by 26-feet-deep. A full basement story underlies the
house and its concrete foundation walls are visible above grade level. The exterior
of the main walls are uniformly covered in stained wood shingles and these walls
rise up to the wide rolled and padded overhanging eaves which support the asphalt
shingle-covered combination jerkinhead gable and deck roof that shelters the house.

The four-bay-wide asymmetrically designed principal tacade of the house faces
southwest onto kast Broadway and the main entrance is placed in the center ot the
tirst floor the facade. The entrance door is placed in a b-toot-wide by 5-foot-
deep shingle-sided entrance vestibule that is surmounted by a hip root that has
rolled edges. The corners of the vestibule are decorated with battered shingle-
covered setback buttresses and the entrance door in the vestibule consists 0f a nine-
lignt upper half over two panels. Each of the two bays to the right of the entrance
contains a pair of eight-light casement windows. The bay to the lett ot the
entrance contains a projecting bay window that has a rolled edge pent roof above it
that merges into the root ot the entrance vestibule. This bay window contains a
group of four thin four-over-one-light double hung windows. The tacade is
terminated by a triple window group in the gable end that contains a six-over-six-
light double hung window flanked by two four-over-four-light windows.

The first story of the northwest-tacing side elevation of the house is then covered
by a 9.5-foot-wide by l8-foot-deep one-story enclosed sun porch. This porch is

20 Building Permit. City of Waukesha Inspection Unit files, City of Waukesha City
Hall.
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sheltered by a deck roof whose edge is also roiled, creating a mansard style roof.
The northwest elevation ot the porch contains a triple window group adjacent to a
tour window group, all the windows being tour-over-one-light 1n design.

Large dormers are centered on both the southeast and northwest-tacing slopes ot this
root. The dormer on the southeast slope is aimost as long as the width of the roof
and it has a combination hip and deck roof that also has rolled edges and its face
contains two pairs of six-over-one-light windows. The smaller northwest-facing
dormer has a similar type ot rootf, but it is actualliy a mansard root with a flat
deck and rolled edges. This dormer has a triple group of six-over-one-light windows
tacing northwest and the north end ot the dormer wall and the root above it merge
into the corner of a two-story flat-roofed rectilinear plan 20-toot-wide by lé6-foot-
deep salient that is attached to the rear ot the house. 7The eage ot the root of
this salient has the same rolled edging as that of the dormer and it is fact a
continuation of the dormer root. OUriginally, this salient had a screen porch on 1its
tirst floor and an enclosed sieeping porch on its second floor, but the porch was
remodeled in 1940++ and the space within was converted into tour rooms. ‘'he only
other change to the exterior ot the house has been the addition ot a small modern
greenhouse attached to.the southwest corner.

This house was built 1n 1Y9203< tor John ¥. Bauer, who was listed as a superintendent
in the 1921 Waukesha City Directory. Bauer's tenancy was short-lLived, however, and
1n 1923 the nouse was owned by Louis A. Williams, the manager of the Wisconsin
division ot the General Motors Corporation. Besides the very original ana well
maintained house there 1s also a 30-toot-wide by 20-foot-deep rectilinear plan frame
construction gable rooted two-car garage (Map No. 13A) located at the rear ot the
property as well. This garage is sided in ciapboard and it was built in 195423 and
is considered to be non-contributing to the district for that reason.

Ernest B, Glidden House (Contributing) 1416 East Broadway Map No. 15

As East Broadway proceeds on its eastward course, the hill it ascends grows steeper
and this change is reflected in the design solutions that the architects of houses
in the east end ot the district provided for their clients. A case in point is the
very fine Mediterranean Revival style house created for Ernest B. Glidden by an
unknown architect ca. 1931.2* This large single-family house is two-stories in

% Building Permit. City of Waukesha Inspection Unit files, City of Waukesha City
Hall.

22 City of Waukesha Inspection Unit files, City of Waukesha City Hall.

23 Building Permit. lbid.

#* Waukesha City Directories. Wrignt Directory Company, 1931, 1934, 193b. This
house is located in the Town ot Waukesha, not the City, and only selected historic
tax records for the Town have been preserved at the Area Record Center in
Milwaukee. Thus, the copious documentation that exists for City of Waukesha
properties is not available for the Town ot Waukesha properties in the district.
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heignt and the main block of the house has a rectilinear-shapea plan. A tull
basement story underlies the house ana 1ts concrete toundation walls support the
stucco-covered masonry construction exterior walls above. These walls rise up to
the broad overhanging eaves that support the Spanish Style pattern tiile-covered
shallow-pitched hip root that crowns the house.

The principal tacade of the main bilock ot this buillding taces soutnwest onto kast
Broadway and it 1s asymmetrical in design and three-bays-wide. The two-story rignt-
hand-bay projects torwara approximately two-teet trom the main tacade and this
salient 1s surmounted by its own tiie-covered hip root. ‘fhe first floor of this bay
contains a tioor-to-ceiling height triple window group that is tlankea by a pailr ot
decorative double batten wood shutters. The center window consists ot a palr ot
tour-1i1ght wood sash trench aoors and these are tlanked by tixed equal height tour-
light sidelights. 1Two pairs of identical tour-light trench doors are positioned in
the second story above and a shallow wooden window planter is placed just below them
and it 1s supported by four heavy wood brackets. The left-hand bay ot this facade
is identical to the right-hand bay except for being placed on the main wall surtace.
A wooden balconet is placed in front of this bay's second floor windows and it is
decorated with a full balustrade that has turned wooden balusters and turned finials

terminating its corner posts.

The principal entrance to the house is placed in the center bay ot the main facade.
The oak and iron-bound entrance door has a semi-circular arched upper portion and it
is flanked by two half-height semi-circular arched sidelights. Both the door and
its sidelights are placed within a deeply inset flat-arched entrance vestibule that
is decorated with a pair ot Tuscan order wood columns that appear to support an
elaborately carved wooden lintel. A pair of six-light casement windows is located
in the second tloor of the center bay above the doors and these windows are also
flanked by a pair of wooden double batten shutters and they also have a small wooden
balconet without a balustrade placed just below them.

The main facade is extended to the left by the end wall of a large rectilinear plan
sun porch pavilion that covers most of the tirst story ot the northwest-facing side
elevation of the house. Like the main block, this porch is also sided in stucco and
has a tile-covered hip root. Both of the porch's end elevations are two-bays-wide
and each bay contains a pair ot tour-light French doors. The three-bay-wide
northwest-tacing elevation of the porch pavilion contains three more palrs ot these
doors. Because the site slopes down steeply along the left-nand edge of this lot it
was also possible to completely expose the northwest wall ot the basement story ot
the porch pavilion as well. This allowed for the placement of a basement story
entrance door in this wall.

A driveway runs along the west edge of this lot and it runs back to a detached flat-
roofed square-plan one-story two-car garage (Map No. 15A) that is located behind the
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house and set into the siope ot the lot. This garage was built at the same time and
in the same style as the house and it is stucco-sided and has two large garage door
openings tacing northwest. fThe garage's tlat roof is rimmed by a wood balustrade
supported by stucco-sided piers.

Both house and garage are 1in excellent original condition ana were built for
businessman Ernest B. Glidden (1893-1958)3®, then vice-president ot the Waukesha
firm ot Otis Glidden & Co., manutacturers ot pharmaceutical products. %he firm was
tounded by Glidden's tather, Otis E. Glidden, in the 1920s after his first firm, the
Waukesha Pure Food Co., was sold to the manutacturer's ot Jello in 19Z1. Ernest
Glidden became president of his father's firm in 1936 and remained in that position
until his retirement in 1451.°3¢

William 5. Halladay House (Contributing) 1411 Kast Broadway Map No. 23

The lots that line the east end of East Broadway 1in the 1400 block are much deeper
and hillier than other lots in the district and they are more densely wooded as
well, rendering some ot these houses almost invisible from the street when the leat
cover is at its fullest. 'The very tine Bungalow style-intiuenced Crattsman style
Halladay house is one of the earlier houses 1in the district and it is sited on a
small hiilock ot its own along this stretch of East Broadway. ‘he principal block
of the house is one-story 1n height and rectilinear in pian and it rests on a
partially raised basement story. ‘Yhe exterior walls are covered in stucco
throughout and these walls rise up to broad, overhanging eaves, which, with their
exposed ratter ends, support the asphalt shingle-covered tront gable roof that
crowns the house. The ridgeline ot this roof runs north-south and the main gable
end faces north onto kast Broadway as does the principal tacade ot the house.

The principal facade is symmetrical in design and three-bays-wide and its first
story consists of two pairs of one-over-one-light double hung windows that flank the
s1x-light over two-panel centrally placed entrance door. All the rest of this
facade is covered by a full-width and nearly full-height gable roofed~front porch
salient that dominates the facade. This porch has a full-width front-facing gable
end whose slopes are pitched at the same angle as the main roof but whose ridgeline
is placed about two-teet lower. The gable end of the porch is sided in stucco
decorated with vertical boards imitating half-timber work and this wall surface is
then sheltered by broad, overhanging eaves supported by exposed beam ends. The
porch roof is supported at each ot its four corners by groups of short square wood
posts (four each in the front, two each in the rear) that sit on top of tall stucco-
sided piers. The two front piers also serve as the terminal elements of the stucco-
sided solid balustrade of the porch. The decision to give the porch a solid
balustrade and to extend the wall surface of the balustrade in an unbroken plane

32 Waukesha Freeman. January 31, 1958. Obituary ot Ernest B. Glidden.
4% Ibid. April 29, 1Y60. History ot Otis Glidden & Co.



NPS Korm LU-YUUA

(Rev. 8-8b)

Wisconsin word Processor kormat
Approved /871

United States Department ot the Interior
National pPark Service

NATIONAL REGISTER OF HISTOKR1C PLACES

CONTINUATION SHEET

East Broadway Historic District, Waukesha, Waukesha County, Wisconsin
Section number 1 rage 71.19

down to grade created a design element of considerable mass and one that appears
even more impressive when viewed trom the street below. ‘This balustrade is
decorated by having two broad one-foot high sections cut out of its length, sections
that resemble upside down basket handle-shaped arches.

‘The wesf-fac1ng side elevation of the house 1s dominated by a gable roofed sunporch
ell that 1s placed perpendicular to the main block ot the house. 'I'his porch
utilizes the same design that 1s used on a larger scale for the tront porch, the
only ditterence being its smatler size and the fact that each ot 1its three sides is
enclosed by two palrs ot single-light casement windows that are tlanked by two
smaller single-light tixed windows. 'lransom lights are placed above each window or
window group (tour-11ght transoms over the paired windows and three-l1ignt over the
single ones) so as to torm a continuous band across the tops of the windows on each
side.

This house 1s an excellent example of a Sears & Roebuck design known as the
"*Osbourn." ‘the house and a small gable-rootfed rectilinear plan stucco-sided one-car
garage building (Map No. 23A) located in the rear ot the lot were bpboth built in 1919
by William 8. Halladay, a traveling salesman and onetime secretary-treasurer of the
Waukesha-based Wisconsin Limestone Co., who lived in the house until 1942.27

Stanley J. Christoph House (Contributing) 1307 East Broadway Map No. 26

The Christoph house is the newest and one of the finest of the six Tudor Revival
style houses in the district. The house is sited on a prominent, corner lot bounded
by East Broadway and Porter Avenue and it is one-and-a-half-stories in height, and
it is irregular in plan, and its main block measures 47.5-feet-wide by 35-feet-
deep. A full basement story underlies the house and the toundation walls throughout
are constructed of concrete block. The exterior portions of the main walls above
grade are all sheathea in a beautifully crafted continuous veneer of random range
ashlar Lannon stone. ‘'hese walls terminate beneath the overhanging eaves of the
asphalt shingle-covered multi-gable roof.

The principal tacade of the northeast-tacing East Broadway facade is asymmetrical in
massing and it consists of two principal sections, the main facade of the main block
ot the house and the 22-foot-wide side elevation of a two-car-garage that is
attached to the right-hand side elevation ot the main bilock. The tacade of the main
block is asymmetrical in design and three-bays-wide. The two-story right-hand-bay
projects torward approximately two-feet from the main facade and this salient is
surmounted by a gable roof of its own. The first floor of this bay contains two
pairs ot large, coupled casement windows separated by a thick wooden mullion. ‘the

37 Waukesha City Directories. Wright Directory Company, 1919-1942. This house is
located in the Town of Waukesha, not the City, and only selected historic tax
records for the Town have been preserved at the Area Record Center in Milwaukee.
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lead cames ot these windows are arranged in lattice tashion and each of these
windows 1s topped by a transom light ot identical design. A massive wooden lintel
is placed above this window group. A smail polygonal wood frame oriel window 1s
positioned 1in the second story above. 7This oriel has two smaller windows tlanking a
larger window and all three have the same lattice-work lead cames as the windows
below. ‘The gable end above is sided with waved wooden clapboards.

The principal entrance to the house is placed in this tacade's one-and-a-halt-story
center bay. The massive oak and iron-bound entrance door has a segmental-arched
upper portion and it is surmounted by a six-light transom. Both the door and its
transom are entramed with a massive simple wood surround and an elaborate wrought
iron hanging lantern is placed above the door. A gable-roofed wall dormer that
contains a pair ot lLZ-light leaded glass casement windows is placed on the main roof
slope above this door and it is surmounted by a stucco-sided gable end. An
identical dormer 1s also located on the root above the triple window group that
filils the first tloor of the one-and-a-half-story lett-hana bay ot this tacade.
This triple group has a brick sill amd a massive dressed stone lintel and 1t
consists of three eight-light leaded glass casement windows.

The wall surtace of the right-hand bay ot the main tacade is extended approximately
lU-feet to the right, where it forms one elevation of a one-story hyphen that
connects the maln block to the attached garage. 'The roof ot this hyphen is formed
by extending the lower half of the slope of the main rootf to the right and there is
a small single window opening tilled with lattice-work lead cames located close to
the top of the elevation.

‘he two-car garage itselt is attached to the northwest corner of the house and it is
rectilinear in plan, has a gable roof and measures ZZ-feet-wide by 2U-feet deep.
This garage 1S identical in style and materials to the house, being sided in random
coursed ashiar lannon stone as well. The East Broadway-tacing side elevation of the
garage projects 9-teet out from the main facade of the house. A single pair of six-
light casement windows set into a segmental-arched opening and tlanked by a pair of
double batten wood shutters is centered on this elevation. The main facade of the
garage faces northwest onto Porter Avenue and its first floor consists almost
entirely of a broad panelled garage door. The gable end above the door is sided in
waved clapboard and another pair of small six-light casement style windows is

placed just below the apex of the gable and the apex 1tselt is slightly bowed and is

sided in wood shingles.

The southeast-facing side elevation of the main block is bisected by a massive
stepped stone chimney mass and an equally large but slightly difterent chimney mass
bisects the northwest-facing side elevation as well. A fine stone wing wall is
attached to the southwest corner of the main block of the house. This six-foot-tall
wall runs in a northwest dirction parallel to the driveway for thirty teet until it
terminates against the side of an 8-foot-square stone tool house (Map No. 26A) that
is surmounted by a tall wood shingle-covered pyramidial roof.
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The Christoph house was built for Stanley J. Christoph (1899-1947) by local
contractor Leonard H. VanAistine (1898-1975) to a design by architect F. Clare
Hinckley.2® Christoph was one of three sons of J.B. Christoph (1868-1943), a
pioneer wholesaler and distributor of newspapers in Waukesha whose firm J.B.
Christoph & Sons was one ot Waukesha's successtul business enterprises.??

Charles H. Harwooq House (Contributing) 12721 East Broadway Map No. 30

The Harwood house is a tine example ot Arts and Cratts sStyle design that occupies a
very large tlat 1ot near the west enda ot the district. The house 1s one-and-a-halt-
stories in height, has a crucitorm pilan, and a full basement story underlies it.

Ihe exterior walls above graae are made of tile that 1s sheathed 1n stucco and these
walls then terminate beneath the broad overhanging eaves ot the asphalt shingle-
covered muiti-gabie root that crowns the house.

The principal tacade ot the northeast-tacing Kast Broadway tacade ot the house 1is
asymmetrical 1n massing and it consists ot the side elevations ot two unequal length
side gable-rooted wings that tiank a slightly taller tront gabled center block. The
23-toot-wide facade ot the main block 1s asymmetrical 1n design and three-bays-
wide. The left-hand bay has a single one-light window on the first fioor. The
tirst floor of the center bay contains a triple window group that has two fixed 8-
light windows flanking a larger single-light window. 'This window group is then
sheltered by a pent root that is an extension of the larger hip roof that covers the
enclosed 15-foot-wide by Y9-foot-deep entrance porch. This porch covers the right-
hand bay ot the center block and about half of the wall surface ot the side
elevation of the right-hand (west) wing of the house. Each of the three sides of
this stucco-sided porch teatures a single large segmental-arched opening. The
opening that faces the street contains five equal-width 13-light leaded glass
casement windows while the two side -tacing openings each contain a pair of 24-light
leaded glass floor-to-ceiling French doors that are flanked by similar height fixed
24-light windows. Broad steps flanked by a stone balustrade lead up to these doors
from both sides ot the porch and both of these balustrades were resurfaced in a
lannon stone veneer at a later date. The gable end of the center bay of the main
facade ot the main block contains a segmental-arched opening like those found on the
porch. ‘This opening is tilled with a triple window group, each window being a 12-
light leaded glass double hung type. The entire facade is shelterea by the broad
overhanging eaves ot the main roots, which are themselves supported both by exposed
rafters whose ends are hidden by bargeboards and by large elaborate scroll sawn

sandwich brackets.

The 10.5-foot-wide front-tacing siae elevation of the left-nand (eastern) wing of
the house is one-bay-wide. A single leaded glass window sheltered by a small pent

#¢ Building Permit. City ot waukesha Inspection Unit files, City ot waukesha City

Hall.
339 Waukesha kreeman. April 8, 1947. Obituary 0t Stanley J. Christoph.
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root supported by carved wood brackets 1is centered on this elevation. The
corresponding l8-toot-wide tront-tacing side elevation ot the right-hand (western)
wing of the house 1is mostly covered by the already described tront porch, its only
other teature belng a massive stepped brick chimney mass that is centered on 1t.

The lower portion of this chimney 1s partially coverea by the porch, wnile the broad
shatt pierces the eave above it.

The design ot the 2Z-foot-wide northwest-facing main elevation ot the western wing
is virtually identical with the design of the center biock on the main facade. This
elevation also has a large leaded glass triple window group on 1ts tirst tloor that
is then surmounted by a pent root and there is also a leaded giass triple window
group placed 1n a segmental-arched opening in the gable end above.

In addition, there is also a 20 x 22-foot garage (Map No. 30A) located in the rear
ot the lot. This heated garage is original to the house and it is stucco-sided and
covered with an asphalt shingle-covered hip and deck roof that has broad overhanging
eaves. Both the house and this garage are in excellent and largely unaltered
condition today.

Not that much is known about Charies H. Harwood. 'I'he Waukesha City Directories
first show him living at this address in 1915-1916 and he is listed as a salesman
and in 1919 as a tarmer.*Y Harwood's property was originally more extensive and he
appears to have had a role in the buiiding of the houses next door at 1227 and at
1233 Kast Broadway as well, both of which were constructed c¢.1919. (n 1921
Harwood's own nouse was sold to John J. staub, president and treasurer of the Staub,
Richardson Co.

Architectural Classitfication continued

ltalianate
Spanish Colonial Revival

Modern Movement

40 Waukesha City Directories. Wright Directory Company, 1915-1916, 1917, 1919,
1921.
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State signiticance of property, and justify criteria, criteria considerations, and
areas and periods ot signiticance noted above.

signiticance

Portions ot the kast Broadway Historic District were 1identitied by the City ot
Waukesha Intensive Survey 1n 1982 as being a potential historic district having
local significance under National Register (NR) criterion C. Once the boundaries ot
this district were more clearly defined, research was undertaken to assess its
potential tor nomination to the National Register ot Historic Places (NRHP)
utitizing the NR signiticance area ot Architecture, a theme which is also identified
in the State ot Wisconsin's Cultural Resource Management Plan (CRMP). This research
centered on evaluating the resources within the district utilizing the [talianate,
Arts and Crafts, American Crattsman, Bungalow, and Period Revival style subsections
of the Architectural Styles study unit of the CRMP. The results of this research is
detailed below and shows that the East Broadway Historic District is locally
significant under NR criterion C as an architecturally significant grouping of
mostly intact early twentieth century residential buildings whose size, integrity,
and prominent location all serve to create an entity that is visually distinct from
its surroundings. This district is comprised of fifty-six resources including
thirty-two residential buildings (twenty-eight contributing and four non-
contributing), and twenty-four associated garage and carriage house buildings
(eighteen contributing and six non-contributing). Of the contributing residential
buildings built during the district's period of signiticance, seven are fine, highly
intact examples of tne Tudor Revival style, three are equally fine examples of the
spanish Colonial/Mediterranean Revival style, five are good examples of the Colonial
Revival styles, nine are excellent examples of the Bungalow/American Craftsman/Arts
and Crafts group ot styles, and one is an unusual example of the Italianate style
built at the beginning of the district's period of significance. Individually, the
early twentieth century buildings in the district are fine examples of architectural
styles which are also important to the architectural character of the

“+ Building Permits. City ot Waukesha Inspection Unit tiles, City of wWaukesha City

Hall.
X See continuation sheet
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neighborhoods surrounding the district and several ot them also represent the best
and/or most characteristic examples ot these styles that were tound by the waukesha
Intensive Survey as well. As a group, these buildings are signiticant pecause they
represent the stylistic evoiution ot high style residential arcnitecture 1n waukesha
between WW{ and Wwil. This signiticance is further enhanced by the high degree ot
integrity that characterizes almost ail ot the puildings within the district and by
the general excellence ot the design these buildings display.

Historic Context

A general history ot the city ot Waukesha 1s contained 1n both the tinal report of
the wWaukesha Intensive Survey** and 1n the text of the Historic Resources of
Waukesha Multiple Resource Nomipation torm.*? C(onsequently, the historical
background that tollows deals primarily with the history of the district itself and
with the area 1lying to the southeast ot the downtown commercial sector ot Waukesha

that contains the neighborhoods that include the East Broadway Historic District.

The early history of this area ot the city ot Waukesha was greatly influenced by its
topography and by its proximity to the historic core of the city. This historic
core is located on a floodplain in the valley ot the Fox River at the point where
the channel of the river is contined to the west and northwest by the tall bluffs.
This floodplain originally consisted ot a pralrie which gradually rises 1n elevation
to the east and southeast of the river and whicn was watered by numerous springs.
The first plats and the earliest development in Waukesha were concentrated on this
flat and readily accessibie land and the new community was originally and
appropriately named Prairie village as a result,.+*

while this land was desirable in and ot itself, the creation of a successtul
settlement 1n the L830s was dependent on other factors as well, among the most
important of which was the development of systems ot transportation that could bring
settlers and goods into the new community and take produce and manutactured goods
out. Waukesha's earliest road amounting to more than just a trail across the
prairie came Jjust tour years atter the tirst settling ot the village in 1834 and was
authorized by the U.S. Congress in l838. This highway was known as the United
States Koad and it ran trom Milwaukee to the Mississippil River and 1ts route took 1t

“2 Howard, Needles, Tammen, and Bergendoff. S$prj ity' st: AT tic Hi

of Waukesha and the Final Report of Waukesha's Intensive Resources Survey. Howard,

Needles, Tammen, and Bergendott, Milwaukee, Wisconsin, 1982.

*3 Howard, Needles, Tammen, and Bergendoff. Historic Resources of Waukesha Multiple

Resource Nomination form. September, 1982. On file with the State Historical
Society of Wisconsin Preservation Division in Madison, Wisconsin.

“* This area is roughly bounded by the Fox River on the north, College Avenue on the
south, West Avenue to the west, and East Avenue to the east.
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through pPrairie Village. "It followed the route ot the present (l1482) U.S. Highway
18 west of the village. ‘'his first highway ... was important to Prairie Village as
it put it on the only transportation route between Milwaukee with its lake port and
the interior ot the Territory."*® The route ot this highway through Prairie village
crossed the Fox River at the foot ot the Madison Street hill at the edge ot the
downtown and continued northwest up Madison Street tor two blocks betore turning
right and following the original Spring Street (now known as Delafield Street) on
its course up and over the blutts and on westward out of town.

As the village ot Waukesha (renamed in 1846) increased in size, more roads within
the village were extended as connectors to other communitles and as the nearby city
of Milwaukee grew into a regional center more roads were also establishea connecting
waukesha with that city. One ot the most important ot these roads was Hroadway (as
this thoroughtare was known betore being divided into east and west sections), which
torms the southeasterly continuation ot Madison Street. Broadway begins at the toot
of the Madison Street hiil mentioned above and it then continues diagonally 1n a
southeast direction tor five blocks across the downtown section ot the viilage. At
the southeast corner of this downtown section (formed by the intersection ot
Broadway, Wisconsin Avenue and East Avenue) Broadway then begins a graaual uphill
ascent as it continues to travel in a southeast direction out or Waukesha and

towards Milwaukee, *S

Construction ot buiidings along Broadway was largely restricted to the tive blocks
in the downtown sector of the village, however, until Bethesda Springs, the tirst of
the springs within the viilage to be developed as a spa, was opened 1in 1868. Atter
that date the population of Waukesna increased quickly as new springs were developed
in all parts of the village. $ince these springs were randomly distributed
throughout the village, development tended to concentrate around these spots first
and the intervening areas filled in later. This trend created islands of growth in
Waukesha rather than the more typical pattern of concentric rings radiating outward

from a downtown core.

One of the earliest of these islands developed along East Broadway within a
trianqular-shaped area located two blocks southeast of the downtown.*’ This area
was bounded by East Broadway, N. Hartwell Avenue, and the Chicago, Northwestern
Railroad lines and growth centered around the development of a small group of

45 Howard, Needles, Tammen, and Bergendoff. Spring City's Past: A Thematic History
of Waukesha and the Final Report of Waukesha's Intensive Resources Survey. Howard,
Needles, Tammen, and Bergendotf, Milwaukee, Wisconsin, 1982, pg. Y1l.

4% Once outside the city limits of Waukesha, Broadway is known as CIH D in Waukesha
County its name then changes to Cleveland Avenue in eastern Waukesha County and in

Milwaukee County.
7 This is the north side ot the 50U block ot kast Hroadway. The Chicago,

Northwestern Railroad's tracks are now owned by the Soo Line.
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springs located in this triangle that became known as the Silurian springs atter a
group of iocal businessmen who called themselves the Waukesha Mineral Spring Company
bought them and the lana surrounding them in l864.%® Deveiopment ot this property
proceeded slowly and a map ot Waukesha printed tive years later 1in the tirst piat
book of Waukesha County shows that the eastern boundary of the platted area of the
city in ‘1873 still encea two blocks west of the springs along the east side of kast
Avenue.®*® As the springs began to be developed, however, the land surrounding the
tirst tew bLoCKS ot kKast Broaaway began to be pilatted and houses and other bulldings
gradually sprang up on these newly created lots.

‘'ne growth ot these springs attected only the first tew blOCKS ot kast Broadway
during the rest ot the nineteenth century, however, and itands just several blocks
turther to the east that bordered on kast Broadway remained mostly rural tor many
years to come. One man in particular who was closely associated with the early
history of this outlying area was Edward Porter (1819-1895), a tormer railroad
contractor, farmer, and a native of England who came to Waukesha trom Canada in
1850.2% pPorter had worked primarily in agriculture up to this time but his first
employment in Waukesha involved construction work with the Milwaukee & Mississippi
Railroad, Wisconsin's first. He was soon placed in charge ot coliecting and
delivering fuel for the railroad's entire Wisconsin operations and he continued in
this work until 1862. He then rented a 160 acre farm near Waukesha owned by one of
the railroad's directors and atter three years had earned sufticent capital to
purchase it. He added this property to the 400 acres located in the Town of
Waukesha that he had already purchased in 1857 for an indebtedness of $20,000 and
upon which he was then raising horses. Fortunately for Porter, the demand tor
horses that resulted from the outbreak ot the Civil War allowed him to sell his
horses and retire a substantial portion ot this debt 1in short order and he then
switched to the raising ot sheep imported from Canada. His success in this venture
paid oft the remaining debt and by 1870 he tound himselt the proprietor ot hundreds
ot acres of valuable farm land located adjacent to the growing village of
Waukesha.=>?®

Most ot Porter's land consisted ot several interconnected parcels located on either
side of Bast Broadway beginning where the current north-south running Columbia
Avenue and Frederick Street are now located. ‘his land then continued eastward

*% Howard, Needles, Tammen, and Bergendoft. Spring City's Past: A thematic History
of Waukesha and the ¥inal Report of Waukesha's [ntensive Resources survey. Howard,
Needies, ‘rammen, and HBergendotf, Milwaukee, Wisconsin, 1982, pg. 22.

4? The same map also shows a row of large residences and rooming houses situated on
large lots bordering on kast Broadway along the block that was being developed for
the springs.

80 waukesha Freeman. March 28, 1895. Obituary of Edward Porter.

®1 Portrait and Biographical Record of Waukesha County, Wisconsin. Excelsior
Publishing Company, Chicago, Illinois, 1894, pgs. 881-883.
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beyond the current city limits and Porter named his property Broadway rarms after
the thoroughfare that transected 1t. Porter celebrated his success by buiiding a
large Italianate style house on gast Broaaway (Map No. 8) in the early 187Us that is
now the earliest house in the district. Porter's later years were spent in
maintaining and upgrading his various tarm properties. In addition, he served for
many yedrs as the chairman ot the ‘'own ot Waukesha Board ot Supervisors and as the
president ot the Waukesha County Agricultural Society and he was also a trustee tor
Carroll College 1n Waukesha.®? ’

Porter continued to farm his land until his death in 18Y5, but the graduai movement
of population eastward from the city was bringing change to land to the west of
Porter's property even during his litetime. By 1887 the land along kast Broadway
had been platted from the downtown east to the Porter property. This included the
land immediately to the west ot Broadway kFarm owned by prominent Waukesha
businessman James B. Lockney. Lockney's land was bounded on the south by East
Broadway, on the north by the Chicago, Northwestern Railroad tracks, on the west Dy
Greentield Avenue and, after he platted this land in 1387 as Lockney's Aadition, on
the east by a new street Lockney named krederick Street. ‘the act or pilatting did
not bring instantaneous growth to the area, however, and the 189YL piat map ot
Waukesha shows that by that date only a tew of the lots in Lockney's subdivision haa
been occupied.®? Indeed, four of the five houses within the East Broadway Historic
bistrict that occupy lots in this subdivision (ilUU8, 1100, 1114 and 1l1ZU kast
Broadway) were not puilt until the 192Us and the tfifth (lllU0 Kast Broadway) was
built in 1949. kven as late as 1Y1b the Porter House (Map No. 8) was still the only

house within the district.

Change did not really begin to aftect the area that now contains the district until
Waukesha's transition trom a summer resort to a manutacturing center began around
191U ana until the automobile became a tact of life in the city. Up until that time
the growth of the population of Waukesha (from 2500 in 1870 to 8740 by 1910) had
reflected the fact that its economy was dependent in large part on the seasonal
nature of the tourist trade. With the coming of industry as a major economic force,
however, Waukesha's population increased rapidly and this increase brought
considerable pressure to bear on the housing stock located in the existing
neighborhoods of the city. The result was a rapid growth in suburban development
that consisted initially of the platting and developing of previously unplatted
lands that lay adjacent to already developed areas. These new suburbs more often
than not filled up with modest homes belonging to newly arrived factory workers
looking tor homes within walking distance ot their places of work. The result was
an increase in both the core size of the city and in the housing density in the core

as well.

22 Butterfield, Consul W. ‘The History ot Waukesha County, Wisconsin. Western
Publisnhing Company, Chicago, [liinois, 1880, pg. 824.

®3 plat Book of Waukesha County. Waukesha, 1891.
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The rise of the automobile as a reliable means of personal transportation during
this same period, however, made it possible for those who could attord them to look
outside the traditional and increasingly congested central core ot Waukesha. Among
the tirst to be able to take advantage ot this situation was the group ot
entrepreneurs whose new businesses were largely responsible tor the increased growth
ot the city and 1t these persons who accounted tor the construction ot most ot the
houses bullt in the past Broadway Hlstoric bistrict.

lt 1s not known why the Land along kast Broadway became the tocus ot the
homepuilding activities of this group but the fact that it was stilill in a rural
state desplte being ondly eight blocks trom the downtown was probably a tactor as was
the tact that kast Broadway was a major thoroughtare that provided ready access to
both the city and the surrounaing countryside.

Very tew ot the houses that now comprise the district were built on piatted lots.
Most were Duilt on lots that were split ott trom larger holdings when the owners ot
this land decided to dispose ot their larger acreage. in the years since kdward
Porter's death in L1495, much ot the land he had owned on both sides of kast Broadway
had been broken up into smaller but still sizable parcels. Among these parcels was
one on the south side ot Ekast Broadway that includea most ot the iand stretching
from the present Columbia Avenue on the west to just beyond the point where the
thoroughfare called Porter Avenue is now located, on the east. This land was
purchased by Charles H. Harwood who was listed in the Waukesha City Directories ot
1915-1916, and 1917 as a salesman and in the 1919 directory as a tarmer. Soon after
buying the land (c.191%) Harwood built his own house tacing onto East Broadway (Map
No. 30) almost directly across the street trom the tormer Porter House (Map No. 8).
Harwood's house thus became the first house to be built in the district in this
century. In 1917 William Weitzel, who was listed as a tarmer in the city directory,
built the district's next house at 1239 East Broadway (Map No. 27) a short distance
east trom Harwood, and in 1Y18 Jonathan Haertel (?-1920), the superintendent ot the
waukesha Malleable [ron Co., owned by his father Conrad Haertel, built a house on
the land just to the west ot Harwood at 1125 kast Broadway (Map No. 31).

In the following year Harwood took an active part in the construction of houses on
two lots he created out ot the land between his own house and that ot william
Weitzel's.®* ‘These houses are located at 1233 and 1227 East Broadway (Map Nos. 28
and 29) and their respective purchasers were Jonathan G. Kelly, a manutacturer ot
si1lo tillers, and Raymond E. Huppert (1l892-14Y5Z), the secretary-treasurer of the
Federal Steel Sash Co. 1919 also saw the construction of four other houses in the
district as well: one on the north side of kast Broadway at 1316 (Map No. 13) for
John ¥. Bauer, listed in the city directory as a superintendent; one at 15Ul (Map
No. 18) on the south side ot the street located at the far east end of the district

%4 The original building permits tor both these houses were taken out in Harwood's
name.
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for william K. Kunkle (Ll380-1Y64); another on the south side at 141l kast Broadway
(Map No. 23) tor william S. Halladay, a traveling salesman and the secretary and
general manager of the Waukesha Llmestone Co.; and still another located next door
to Hailaday at 1401 kast Broadway (Map No. 24) tor George H. Butler (i882-1951),
president ot the Butler Woodwork Co.

By the ena of the 1910s buildings were well established on the south side of East
Broadway and the 1Y20s saw this pattern intensitied with many ho